

How political systems and social welfare policies affect well-being: A literature review

Robert MacCulloch

**Motu Working Paper 17-14** 

**Motu Economic and Public Policy Research** 

August 2017

#### **Document information**

Author contact details
Robert MacCulloch
University of Auckland
r.macculloch@auckland.ac.nz

#### Disclaimer

This article has been prepared for a forthcoming chapter of The Handbook of Well-being, edited by Ed Diener, Shige Oishi and Louis Tay, which will be published shortly.

All opinions are those of the author and he is also responsible for any errors or omissions.

#### **Motu Economic and Public Policy Research**

PO Box 24390 info@motu.org.nz +64 4 9394250

Wellington www.motu.org.nz

New Zealand

© 2017 Motu Economic and Public Policy Research Trust and the authors. Short extracts, not exceeding two paragraphs, may be quoted provided clear attribution is given. Motu Working Papers are research materials circulated by their authors for purposes of information and discussion. They have not necessarily undergone formal peer review or editorial treatment. ISSN 1176-2667 (Print), ISSN 1177-9047 (Online).

#### Abstract

This chapter focusses on the question of how formal institutions, like those governing the level of freedom, the regulatory state, political parties and the generosity of the welfare state, affect self-reported well-being. The evidence suggests, for example, that more freedom, as well as government structures which encourage civic engagement, participation and trust, have positive effects. Many studies, however, use cross-sectional data with small sample sizes, often due to institutions being measured at the country level with limited variation over time. As a consequence, further work is needed to test robustness. Stronger results hold with respect to particular types of welfare state institutions, like unemployment benefits, which are subject to quite frequent changes within nations. Increases in unemployment benefits are associated with higher levels of well-being for all workers, probably due to greater income security. However, doubt still persists as to their overall impact, due to the extent to which well-being is adversely affected by the higher taxes needed to support a more generous welfare state.

JEL codes E71, I31, J65

#### **Keywords**

Wellbeing, government structures, welfare state, unemployment benefits

# **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction		1
2	The Effect of Political Systems on Well-being		1
	2.1	The Effect of Freedom on Well-being	1
	2.2	The Effect of Government Quality and Processes on Well-being	4
	2.3	The Effect of Political Affiliation and Political Parties on Well-being	6
3	The Effect of the Welfare State and Taxes on Well-being		7
	3.1	The Welfare State and Well-being	7
	3.2	Taxes and Well-being	9
4	Conc	clusion	
References			11
Recent Motu Working Papers			13

### 1 Introduction

This chapter is about how formal institutions in a nation affect the well-being of its people. Douglass North (1990) defines institutions as "the humanly devised constraints that structure human interactions. They are made up of formal constraints (rules, laws, constitutions), informal constraints (norms of behaviour, conventions, and self-imposed codes of conduct), and their enforcement characteristics".

In North's theory, formal rules are created by the polity, whereas informal norms maybe part of the heritage that is often referred to as "culture" and includes characteristics like "social trust". This chapter focuses mostly on formal institutions, and we leave it to other authors in this book to discuss how informal norms affect well-being.

The chapter is structured as follows. In section 1 we study how the nature of the political system in a country affects well-being. Do the citizens of a country gain pleasure from having more political freedoms and civil liberties? In addition to the degree of freedom of its citizenry, we ask whether the quality of other government structures affect happiness. Does corruption of public officials lead people to experience more negative feelings? Is there a relationship between the size and quality of the regulatory state and well-being?

This section also emphasizes the importance of formal institutions that facilitate greater engagement with the political process and reinforce social networks. Is it the economic outcomes that systems yield, or the degree to which their decision-making processes are inclusive, which matter the most? The section concludes with a discussion of the role of partisan politics. Is, for example, political competition more like a team sport whereby one gets pleasure from being a supporter of the winning side, aside from the policies which actually end up being implemented?

Section 2 focusses mostly on government spending and taxes. It seeks to answer questions like whether or not countries with more generous welfare states and greater job security have higher well-being. Do the 'happiness studies' on this topic take into account the fact that countries with high public spending tend to tax their citizens more? On the other hand, can "sin taxes" like on cigarettes, actually increase well-being?

The final section concludes.

### 2 The Effect of Political Systems on Well-being

#### 2.1 The Effect of Freedom on Well-being

First, we ask the question of how formal institutions governing the level of civil, political and economic freedoms affect well-being in nations. Most of the institutions governing these kinds of

freedoms change only slowly over time which is probably why much of the work in this field has relied on exploiting cross-sectional variation.

Many authors have sought to test the hypothesis that freer countries have higher levels of self-reported well-being (SWB). Greater choice is typically regarded as a good thing. In particular, democratic freedoms are often viewed as being vital to monitor and control politicians, and to bring the decisions of government closer to the wishes of the citizenry.

Of course not all theories highlight the positive effects of freedom. For those who have self-control problems, like eating or smoking too much, constraints on behaviour may be helpful. It is often argued that the "right" to bear arms should be restricted. There are also many rules imposed on children, which include not having the right to vote, even in the western democracies. Some people voluntarily place restrictions on themselves by joining a strict religion, due a belief in the supernatural or desire to be a member of a close-knit group.

It should also be noted that economic freedoms are nearly always regulated, usually in the name of increasing social welfare. Free markets are not to be mistaken with unregulated markets. Even "unfettered competitive markets are based on a set of laws and institutions that secure property rights, ensure enforcement of contracts, and regulate firm behaviour and product and service quality" (see Acemoglu, 2009).

The "happiness studies" on this topic tend to use data at the national level and their findings are still in need of greater validation.<sup>1</sup> As an early example, Veenhoven (1993) uses a cross-section of 23 countries from the World Values Survey (WVS) in the 1980s. He argues that there "is a clear correspondence between average happiness in nations and the degree to which these nations provide material comfort, social equality, freedom and access to knowledge" (pg 32). Freedom is measured, in this instance, by the Estes Index of Political Participation and also the degree to which the country has a free press.

In a later study, Veenhoven (2000a) used a cross-section of 38 countries and a single index combining political, civil and economic freedoms to again argue that freedom and well-being are positively correlated.

However, Inglehart and Klingeman (2000) found that their Freedom House democracy score was not significant in a SWB regression, after controlling for other variables, when using a cross-section of 105 countries. This result led these authors to conclude that "the interpretation that democracy causes well-being does not stand up: other factors – particularly the number of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Examples of survey questions that have been used to measure self-reported well-being and which will be referred to in this chapter include the "happiness" question, which asks, "Taking all things together, would you say you are: very happy; quite happy; not very happy; not at all happy?", and the "life satisfaction" question, which asks, "How satisfied are you with your life as a whole these days?", with responses ranging from "completely dissatisfied" to "completely satisfied". Another example is the "ladder of life" question which asks "Please imagine a ladder with steps numbered from zero at the bottom to 10 at the top. The top of the ladder represents the best possible life for you and the bottom of the ladder represents the worst possible life for you. On which step of the ladder would you say you personally feel you stand at this time?"

years of communist rule and the society's level of economic development – seem to play much more powerful roles" (pg 181).

The uncertainty underlying this debate is heightened by the controversy over whether even the level of development itself influences well-being. The time-series of SWB data for many nations do not appear to support this proposition (see Easterlin, 1974) and the growth rate of GDP has often been argued to matter more (see Di Tella, MacCulloch and Oswald, 2003).

One approach to better identify the relationship between freedom and well-being has been to use within-country data. For example, Frey and Stutzer (2000) study the role of direct democracy (via initiatives and referenda) using a cross-section of 26 Swiss cantons between 1992 and 1994. A shift from the canton with the lowest direct participation rights (i.e., Geneva) to the one with the highest (i.e., Basel land) is associated with an 11 percentage point higher probability of declaring oneself completely satisfied with life (on an eight point scale ranging from "completely dissatisfied" to "completely satisfied").

These authors argue that the institutions of direct democracy have two effects on well-being. One maybe to generate better policy outcomes. The other is to expand the possibilities of citizens to participate in political processes and procedures.

The relative sizes of these two effects can be identified since their data set includes foreigners living in Switzerland who can share in the outcomes of direct democracy, but who are not able to gain utility from participation in the process, which is only available to citizens. Consequently Swiss nationals are hypothesised to gain more from direct democracy, compared to foreigners. It turns out that about two thirds of the total gain in SWB is due to a more favourable process in political decision-making whereas one third is due to more favourable outcomes.

The robustness of the Frey and Stutzer (2000) results has, however, been questioned. For example, Dorn, Fischer, Kirchgässner and Sousa-Poza (2008) use surveys conducted between 2000 and 2002 by the Swiss Household Panel to re-evaluate the relationship between cantonal direct democracy and well-being. Their study introduces new controls for cultural determinants of life satisfaction such as languages and religion. Once these controls are included, these authors are unable to find a robust relationship.

Furthermore, Blume, Muller and Viogt (2009) are also unable to detect a correlation between direct democracy and happiness scores, although they revert to using cross-country data with a sample of 54 observations taken between 1996 and 2005.

Another approach to help better identify the relation between freedom and SWB has been to bring a time series dimension to the question. For example, Inglehart, Foa, Peterson and Welzel (2008) use different waves of the World Values Surveys, taken between 1981 and 2007. They correlate changes in SWB (measured by both self-reported happiness and life satisfaction)

from the first to the last available survey for each country, with changes in two proxies for freedom, as well as changes in GDP per capita.

One of their freedom proxies is the level of democracy, measured by the Polity IV project. The other is a survey question taken from the WVS which asks, "Some people feel they have completely free choice and control over their lives, while other people feel that what they do has no real effect on what happens to them. Please use this scale where 1 means "no choice at all" and 10 means "a great deal of choice" to indicate how much freedom of choice and control you feel you have over the way your life turns out".

Of these two proxies, the Polity IV measure of democracy is not significant. Inglehart et al (2008) instead argue that their results do "show that a growing feeling that one has free choice was by far the most important influence on whether SWB rose or fell". The positive correlation which these authors report between changes in SWB and changes in feelings of free choice is an important one, although its implications are somewhat unclear.

First, there is a degree of ambiguity as to what the above survey question is capturing. For example, people in many countries, including Qatar, reported higher average levels of "free choice" and "control over their lives" than the United States (see WVS, 2010-2014). Yet Qatar is ranked as being "not free" by Freedom House.

Second, the WVS survey period from 1981 to 2007 covers the end of the Cold War in 1989-90 when, for example, the threat of East-West conflict was believed to be falling. The positive emotions and reduced fear around this time may have led people to both tick up their happiness scores and report feeling freer.

Third, Stevenson and Wolfers (2009) report that the subjective well-being of women in the United States fell between 1972 and 2006, both absolutely and relatively to that of men, notwithstanding a great expansion of women's opportunities over this time.

In summary, the heavy use of cross-sectional data sets, limited time-series evidence, small number of observations and widely differing proxies for freedom used across different studies, taken together, point to a need for more work to help better identify the relationship between freedom and self-reported well-being.

#### 2.2 The Effect of Government Quality and Processes on Well-being

In additional to the freedom of its citizenry, the quality of other government structures may affect the well-being of a nation. For example, Italy achieved the top score of 1 (out of 7) for its Political Rights and Civil Liberties in 2017 from Freedom House, yet many of its institutions are perceived to be mired in corruption.

Helliwell and Huang (2008) exploit the cross-sectional variation in life satisfaction data from 75 countries taken between 1981 and 2000 by the World Values Survey to test the relationship between the quality of government and well-being. The quality variable is

measured by an average of four indices that measure governmental effectiveness, regulatory quality, rule of law, and control of corruption.

Their results show that increasing the overall quality of government by about one standard deviation would have a similar effect on life satisfaction, for a typical respondent, as moving at least halfway up the income distribution within one's own country (measured in deciles).

The World Happiness Report (2016) uses a larger sample of 156 countries, surveyed between 2005 and 2015, from the Gallup World Poll. The results focus mostly on cross-sectional variation. This report finds evidence of a significant and large negative correlation between SWB and an index of corruption. Well-being is measured by the Cantril "ladder of life" survey question which asks respondents to rank their lives on a 0 to 10 scale, where the worst possible life is a 0 and the best possible life is a 10.

The argument found in Frey and Stutzer (2000) that formal institutions, like referenda, may increase well-being due to the satisfaction that comes from the process of participating, aside from the actual outcomes that are produced, has important implications.

For example, Helliwell (2011) uses a case study of Singapore's Prison Service reforms which he believes exemplifies lessons from well-being research that emphasizes the positive role of processes (such as engagement in a shared purpose). The reforms which he studies were begun in 1998 and emphasized the building of connections and trust so as to combine prisoners, staff and the public in collaborative commitments to improve the lives of all.

The outcome of these reforms appear to have been impressive, having helped contribute to a one-third drop in recidivism, as well as improved staff morale and better social connections between prisons and the rest of society.

More generally, Helliwell and Putnam (2004) use the World Values, US Social Capital Benchmark and Canadian "Equality, Security and Community" surveys to study the relationship between social networks and well-being. Marriage and family, closeness to friends, workplace ties, civic engagement, trust and trustworthiness are independently and robustly positively correlated with an individual's happiness and life satisfaction.

At the macroeconomic level, Aghion, Algan, Cahuc and Shleifer (2010) find that measures of trust are negatively correlated with the level of government regulation whereas Djankov et al (2002) find a positive relationship between corruption and regulation.<sup>2</sup> Hence, the above types of findings, taken together, suggest that countries with a smaller regulatory state and higher levels of citizen participation in decision-making, as well as a greater degree of social connectedness and trust, may experience higher levels of well-being.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Aghion et al (2010) use a measure of trust from the World Values Surveys, collected between 1981 and 2003, which they correlate with the level of regulation (measured by the number of steps that an entrepreneur must complete to open a business legally) across 57 countries. Respondents in the WVS were asked, "Generally speaking, would you say that most people can be trusted, or that you can't be too careful in dealing with people? What would it be today?" and also "To what extent do you trust the following institutions: government, banks, foreign companies?"

However, work on the topic of how specific regulations affect well-being is still quite scarce, probably due to the difficulty of obtaining comparable measures of rules, both across nations, and even within the same country over time.

#### 2.3 The Effect of Political Affiliation and Political Parties on Well-being

Another question relates to how an individual's political affiliation, whether it be left-wing or right-wing, as well as the partisan stance of the government, affects well-being. Di Tella and MacCulloch (2005) find that the same outcomes affect people's life satisfaction differently, depending on which party they support, and that these differences cannot be traced back to income differences. A panel of 10 countries is used from 1975 to 1992 to help identify the results by exploiting the time series variation in the data.

This kind of evidence favours the partisan approach to modelling business cycles: right-wingers tend to care more about inflation and left-wingers seem to be more concerned with unemployment. In other words, the same economic outcomes that are associated with a particular set of institutions may be associated with different levels of well-being across individuals, depending purely on their ideological inclination.

Respondents also declare themselves to be happier when the party in power has a similar partisan inclination to themselves, even after controlling for key economic performance indicators such as unemployment, inflation and income. The effect is quite large: a right-wing person living under a Socialist Party leader, like President Hollande of France, would be willing to put up with an increase of 11 percentage points in the inflation rate in order to have a Conservative Party leader, like Prime Minister Theresa May in the United Kingdom.

One interpretation is that some non-economic variables affect the two constituencies differently. Examples in America may be a party's position on gun control or abortion.

Another interpretation is that voters experience happiness when the party they support is in power, regardless of its policies, due to the personal charisma of the leader (which maybe attractive only to the party's constituency). Alternatively, there could be a pure "victory effect", whereby individuals care that the party which they support is in power (regardless of the leader or the policies which he or she enacts).

Furthermore, Pierce, Rogers and Snyder (2016) use daily data on the SWB of over 300,000 people before and after the 2012 US election which was won by (former Democratic) President Obama. The happiness of those individuals who identified themselves as partisan losers (i.e., Republican supporters) dropped significantly in the days immediately after the election. The drop in their in their SWB was twice as large as respondents living in Boston experienced in the aftermath of the Boston Marathon bombings. On the other hand, the SWB of the partisan winners (i.e., Democrat supporters) was not affected by the election.

Consequently, it is possible that these kinds of findings lend even more support to the idea that well-being is not driven solely by the outcomes which formal institutions generate. The success of one's own "team", as well as participation in the electoral process, may increase well-being, independently of the policies actually implemented.

Not only do economic and political outcomes affect SWB, but causality may also work in the opposite direction. Using an unbalanced panel of 15 European Union members from 1973 to 2012, Ward (2015) finds a positive correlation between voters' SWB and their propensity to reelect incumbent governments. He includes a range of macroeconomic control variables, like GDP growth, inflation and unemployment, as well as country and year fixed effects. A one standard deviation increase in SWB is associated with an 8.5 percentage point (86% of a standard deviation) swing in the vote share enjoyed by the governing coalition.

Liberini, Redoano and Proto (2013) also find that a drop in a person's SWB makes them less likely to vote in favour of the ruling party, even if the reason is an event for which the government has no influence. They use British Household Panel Survey Data on just over 4,200 individuals who were interviewed between 1996 and 2008.

## 3 The Effect of the Welfare State and Taxes on Well-being

In this section we study how another set of formal institutions, namely those relating to the government expenditure and taxation system, affect well-being in nations. We focus in particular on those programmes that enhance income security.

#### 3.1 The Welfare State and Well-being

An increasing body of work has explored whether certain forms of welfare state institutions, like unemployment benefits, affect well-being. For example, Richard Easterlin (2013) states that "If society's goal is to increase people's feelings of well-being, economic growth in itself will not do the job. Full employment and a generous and comprehensive social safety net do increase happiness". Some people argue that the unemployed voluntarily choose not to find a job since they don't find work attractive. If this is the case then unemployment may not be associated with much mental distress, leading policy-makers to opt for a less generous benefit system to reduce the attractiveness of being out-of-work.

However, a large body of evidence from 'happiness' studies has now shown that the unemployed are far less happy than those that have work. Becoming unemployed has a larger negative effect than divorce, according to many data sets. This result has led some economists to argue that governments should bias their policies toward providing a comprehensive social safety net.

Di Tella, MacCulloch and Oswald (2003) study the effect of unemployment benefits on national well-being, as well as on different sub-groups, like the unemployed and employed. They

use a sample of 271,224 people living in 12 nations between 1975 and 1992 who were surveyed by Euro-barometer. Their regressions exploit the time-series variation in these data by controlling for country and year fixed effects, as well as country specific time trends.

People are willing to forgo GDP growth rates of 2.5% to see an increase in unemployment benefits, as a proportion of wages, equal to 3 percentage points, ceteris paribus. This change in benefits is equivalent to a shift from the Irish level to the French level (i.e., from 0.28 to 0.31). The employed and unemployed both experience an increase in SWB of similar magnitude. However, doubt still persists as to the overall impact of more generous benefits, due to the potential adverse effects on well-being of the higher taxes and unemployment which they may cause.

More generally, a number of political scientists have focussed on the question of whether the welfare state facilitates higher levels of well-being due to its capacity to allow people to uphold a "socially acceptable" standard of living independent of market participation. In this spirit, Esping-Andersen (2000) creates a "decommodification" index, which measures the extent of "emancipation" of labour from market dependency summarized across three domains: pensions, income maintenance for the ill or disabled, and unemployment benefits.

Pacek and Radcliff (2008) use Euro-barometer data from 1975 to 2002 for 11 nations to test whether the "decommodification" index is correlated with SWB. In regressions controlling for country fixed effects, they find that decommodification is positively correlated with life satisfaction, significant at the 5 percent level. A shift from the minimum to maximum value of the former variable is associated with three-quarters of a standard deviation increase in SWB. These authors conclude that the "welfare state contributes to human well-being".

The above kinds of studies appear to build a strong case supporting a positive association between a social safety net and SWB. However, Veenhoven (2000b) argues that public welfare may crowd out private provision by friends, families and private organizations, as well as lead to a loss in individual freedoms. Due to the positive correlations noted in the previous section of this chapter between SWB and participation in private networks, the possibility of adverse effects due to crowding out do need to be investigated further.

Related to these concerns, there is still much debate regarding the question of the effect of the overall size of government on well-being. For example, Bjørnskov, Dreher, and Fischer (2007) correlate general government consumption spending, as a fraction of GDP, with life satisfaction using the third and fourth waves of the WVS, taken between 1997 and 2001, which cover 120,000 individuals in 74 countries. These authors find that SWB is negatively related to government consumption, although they mainly exploit cross-sectional variation by only controlling for a set of region dummies (i.e., Sub-Saharan Africa, North Africa, Middle East, Asia, Pacific and Latin America) rather than country dummies.

### 3.2 Taxes and Well-being

The papers discussed in the previous section seek to explain well-being using measures of the generosity of government programmes. However they do not directly consider the impact of the higher taxes needed to fund them. Akay, Bargain, Dolls, Neumann, Peichl and Siegloch (2012) use 26 waves of the German Socio-Economic Panel, which has surveyed about 25,000 individuals between 1985 and 2010, to correlate life satisfaction with each person's net income, as well as the level of taxes which they pay. Individual and year fixed effects are included in their regressions.

Net income is significantly positively linked with SWB whereas, conditional on net income, taxes have a positive effect. The authors interpret these findings as meaning that taxes have separate two effects on SWB: a negative effect to the extent they subtract from gross income; and a positive effect most likely due to the benefits that tax revenues provide by helping to fund public goods and social insurance programmes.

One of the few papers which correlates SWB with direct measures of both government spending and taxes at the national level is Grimes, Ormsby, Robinson and Wong (2016). They use data on 171,804 people living in 35 nations between 1981 and 2012, collected in six waves of the WVS. Taxes are divided into two categories: "non-distortionary", defined as indirect taxes on goods and services; and "distortionary", which include income taxes, social security contributions, and property taxes. They control for country and year fixed effects, GDP per capita, inflation, unemployment, and personal characteristics.

Higher taxes are found to be associated with lower SWB, whereas the reverse is true for public expenditures. Grimes et al (2016) main result is that non-distortionary taxes lower well-being more than distortionary taxes. Increasing the latter by 10 percent of GDP, funded by a same sized cut in the former, leads to a rise in SWB of 25% of a standard deviation, similar to the effect of getting married in many 'happiness regressions'. They also find that devolving central government expenditure to a more local level leads to higher SWB.

Another paper which attempts to distinguish between different types of tax structures is Oishi, Schimmack and Diener (2012). Their sample is a cross-section of 54 countries from the 2007 Gallup World Poll in which the Cantril "ladder of life" question was asked to 59,634 people. These authors find that countries with more progressive income tax systems (i.e., where the tax rate increases more steeply as taxable income rises) tend to have higher levels of SWB. They argue that the mechanism occurs by virtue of a "fairer distribution of wealth" and the provision of more "quality public goods".

Aside from taxes which are used purely to help raise revenues for the government, some taxes may instead be used to discourage addictive forms of behaviour. These are sometimes referred to as "sin taxes". Gruber and Mullainathan (2005) find that higher cigarette taxes

increase the SWB of smokers, on average, compared to non-smokers, presumably by helping them give up.

### 4 Conclusion

The aim of this paper is to describe how formal institutions, like the political system in a country, as well as the rules surrounding the welfare state and taxes, affect well-being. There are many studies suggesting that more freedom, as well as government structures which encourage civic engagement, participation and trust, have positive effects. However since freedom-related variables have typically been measured at the national level and often vary only slowly over time, further work is needed to test robustness.

One theme of this research agenda is that processes may matter at least as much as outcomes. For example, people appear to experience higher levels of well-being from the act of participation in a referendum, regardless of the policies that actually get implemented. Similarly, the evidence points to political competition being somewhat like a team sport, whereby one gets pleasure from supporting the winning side. In other words, there appears to be a pure "victory effect", whereby individuals care that "their" party is the one holding power, regardless of the leader or the policies which he or she enacts.

A growing body of research using country level panel data also supports the view that a comprehensive social safety net is associated with higher levels of well-being for all workers, both employed and unemployed. However, doubt still persists as to the overall impact of a generous welfare state, due to the extent to which well-being may be adversely affected by the higher taxes needed to support it.

Topics regarding the impact of (slow-moving) formal institutions on well-being opens up the question of the advantages, but also the limitations, of using happiness data to help evaluate public policies. First, there is uncertainty about the time horizon used by people in framing their survey responses. Second, since people may adapt over time, there is doubt as to the short-run versus the long-run effect of institutions on well-being. Third, there is still much disagreement as to whether a person's well-being can even be summarized by a single number or whether there are different dimensions of well-being that cannot be aggregated.

#### References

- Acemoglu, D. (2009). "The Crisis of 2008: Structural Lessons for and from Economics", *Policy Insight No. 28*, Centre for Economic Policy Research: London.
- Aghion, P., Algan, Y., Cahuc, P. and A. Shleifer (2010). "Regulation and Distrust", Quarterly Journal of Economics, 125(3): pp. 1015-1049.
- Akay, A., Bargain, O., Dolls, M., Neumann, D., Peichl, A. and S. Siegloch (2012). "Happy Taxpayers? Income Taxation and Well-Being", IZA DP No. 6999, November (revise and resubmit to the *Journal of Public Economics*).
- Bjørnskov, C., Dreher, A., and J. Fischer (2007). "The Bigger the Better? Evidence of the Effect of Government Size on Life Satisfaction around the World", *Public Choice*, 130: pp. 267-292.
- Blume, L., Muller, J., and S. Viogt (2009). "The Economic Effects of Direct Democracy A First Global Assessment", *Public Choice*, 140(3): pp. 431-461.
- Di Tella, R. and R. MacCulloch (2005). "Partisan Social Happiness", *Review of Economic Studies*, 72, pp. 367–39.
- Di Tella, R., MacCulloch, R. and A. Oswald (2003). "The Macroeconomics of Happiness", *Review of Economics and Statistics*, November, 85(4): pp. 809–827.
- Djankov, S., La Porta, R., Lopez-de-Silanes, F. and A. Shleifer (2002). "The Regulation of Entry", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 117: pp. 1–37.
- Dorn, D., Fischer, J., Kirchgässner, G. and A. Sousa-Poza (2008). "Direct Democracy and Life Satisfaction Revisited: New Evidence for Switzerland", *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 9, pp. 227-55.
- Easterlin, R. (1974). "Does Economic Growth Improve the Human Lot?" in: P. David and M. Reder (eds.), Nations, Households and Economic Growth. Academic Press: New York, pp. 98–125.
- Easterlin, R. (2013). "Happiness, Growth and Public Policy", *Economic Inquiry*, 51(1), January, pp. 1–15.
- Esping-Andersen, G. (1990). <u>The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism</u>. Princeton, New Jersey: Princeton University Press.
- Freedom House (2017). Freedom in the World: Washington, DC.
- Frey, Bruno and Alois Stutzer (2000). "Happiness, Economy and Institutions", *Economic Journal*, 110: pp. 918-38.
- Grimes, A., Ormsby, J., Robinson, A. and S. Yuat Wong (2016). "Subjective Well-being Impacts of National and Sub-national Fiscal Policies", *Region*, 3(1): pp. 43-69.
- Gruber, J. and S. Mullainathan. (2005). "Do Cigarette Taxes Make Smokers Happier?" *B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis and Policy*, 5(1): pp. 1-45.
- Helliwell, J. (2011). "Institutions as Enablers of Well-being: The Singapore Prison Case Study", *International Journal of Well-being*, 1(2): pp. 255-265.
- Helliwell, J. and H. Huang (2008). "How's Your Government? International Evidence Linking Good government and Well-being", *British Journal of Political Science*, 38: pp. 595-619.
- Helliwell, J., Layard, R., and J. Sachs (2016). <u>World Happiness Report 2016</u>, New York: Sustainable Development Solutions Network.
- Helliwell, J. and R. Putnam (2004). "The Social Context of Well-being", *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, 359: pp. 1435–1446.
- Inglehart, R., Foa, R., Peterson, C., and C. Welzel (2008). "Development, Freedom, and Rising Happiness: A Global Perspective (1981–2007)", *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 3(4): pp. 264-285.
- Inglehart, R., and H. Klingemann (2000). "Genes, Culture, Democracy, and Happiness", in: E. Diener and E. Suh (eds.), <u>Culture and Subjective Well-Being</u>, MIT Press: Cambridge MA and London, pp. 165-183.
- Liberini, F., M. Redoano, and E. Proto (2013). "Happy Voters", Centre for Competitive Advantage in the Global Economy, Working Paper Series no. 169, Department of Economics, University of Warwick.
- North, Douglass (1990). <u>Institutions, Institutional Change and Economic Performance</u>, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Oishi, S., Schimmack, U., and E. Diener (2012). "Progressive Taxation and the Subjective Well-being of Nations", *Psychological Science*, 23(1): pp. 86-92.
- Pacek, A. and B. Radcliff (2008). "Assessing the Welfare State: The Politics of Happiness", *Perspectives on Politics*, 6(2) June: pp. 267-277.
- Pierce, L., Rogers, T. and J. Snyder (2016). "Losing Hurts: The Happiness Impact of Partisan Electoral Loss", *Journal of Experimental Political Science*, 3(1): pp. 44-59.
- Stevenson, Betsey and Justin Wolfers (2009). "The Paradox of Declining Female Happiness", American Economic Journal: Economic Policy, 1(2): pp. 190-225.
- Veenhoven, R. (1993). <u>Happiness in Nations: Subjective Appreciation of Life in 56 Nations 1946-1992</u>, Rotterdam: Erasmus University Press.
- Veenhoven, R. (2000a). "Freedom and Happiness: A Comparative Study in 46 nations in the early 1990's", in: Diener, E. and E. Suh (eds) <u>Culture and Subjective Well-being</u>, MIT Press: Cambridge MA and London, pp. 257-288.
- Veenhoven, R. (2000b). "Well-being in the Welfare State: Level not Higher, Distribution not more Equitable", *Journal of Comparative Policy Analysis*, 2: pp. 91-125.
- Ward, G. (2015). "Is Happiness a Predictor of Election Results?", CEP Discussion Paper no. 1343, London: Centre for Economic Performance.

# **Recent Motu Working Papers**

- 17-13 Fleming, David A., Arthur Grimes, Laurent Lebreton, David C Maré and Peter Nunns. 2017. "Valuing sunshine."
- 17-12 Hyslop, Dean and Wilbur Townsend. 2017. "The longer term impacts of job displacement on labour market outcomes."
- 17-11 Carver, Thomas, Patrick Dawson and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Including forestry in an Emissions Trading Scheme: Lessons from New Zealand."
- 17-10 Daigneault, Adam, Sandy Elliott, Suzie Greenhalgh, Suzi Kerr, Edmund Lou, Leah Murphy, Levente Timar and Sanjay Wadhwa. 2017. "Modelling the potential impact of New Zealand's freshwater reforms on land-based Greenhouse Gas emissions"
- 17-09 Coleman, Andrew. 2017. "Housing, the 'Great Income Tax Experiment', and the intergenerational consequences of the lease"
- 17-08 Preston, Kate and Arthur Grimes. 2017. "Migration and Gender: Who Gains and in Which Ways?"
- 17-07 Grimes, Arthur, Judd Ormsby and Kate Preston. 2017. "Wages, Wellbeing and Location: Slaving Away in Sydney or Cruising on the Gold Coast."
- 17-06 Leining, Catherine, Judd Ormsby and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Evolution of the New Zealand Emissions Trading Scheme: Linking."
- 17-05 Leining, Catherine, Corey Allan and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Evolution of the NZ ETS: Sectoral Coverage and Points of Obligation."
- 17-04 Maré, David C., Trinh Le, Richard Fabling and Nathan Chappell. 2017. "Productivity and the Allocation of Skills."
- 17-03 Grimes, Arthur and Wilbur Townsend. 2017. "The Effect of Fibre Broadband on Student Learning."
- 17-02 Alimi, Omoniyi, David C Maré and Jacques Poot. 2017. "More pensioners, less income inequality?"
- 17-01 Carver, Thomas and Suzi Kerr. 2017. "Facilitating Carbon Offsets from Native Forests."
- 16-22 Fabling, Richard, and Arthur Grimes. 2016. "Picking Up Speed: Does Ultrafast Broadband Increase Firm Productivity?"
- 16-21 Maré, David C. 2016. "Urban Productivity Estimation with Heterogeneous Prices and Labour."
- 16-20 Allan, Corey, and Suzi Kerr. 2016. "Who's Going Green? Decomposing the Change in Household Consumption Emissions 2006–2012."
- 16-19 Hyslop, Dean, and Wilbur Townsend. 2016. "Employment Misclassification in Survey and Administrative Reports."
- 16-18 Hyslop, Dean, and Wilbur Townsend. 2016. "Earnings Dynamics and Measurement Error in Matched Survey and Administrative Data."
- 16-17 Hollis, Michele, Cecile de Klein, Dave Frame, Mike Harvey, Martin Manning, Andy Reisinger, Suzi Kerr, and Anna Robinson. 2016. "Cows, Sheep and Science: A Scientific Perspective on Biological Emissions from Agriculture."
- 16-16 Kerr, Suzi. 2016. "Agricultural Emissions Mitigation in New Zealand: Answers to Questions from the Parliamentary Commissioner for the Environment."
- 16-15 Timar, Levente. 2016. "Yield to Change: Modelling the Land-use Response to Climate Driven Changes in Pasture Production."
- 16-14 Chappell, Nathan, and Adam B. Jaffe. 2016. "Intangible Investment and Firm Performance."

